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            To Melanie, Jules, and Bruno

         

         

      

   


   
      
         

         
            I feel about Casablanca that it has a life of its own. There is something mystical about it. It seems to have filled a need, a need that was there before the film, a need that the film filled.

             

            —INGRID BERGMAN

         

         

      

   


   
      
         

            
Introduction


         

         When Casablanca premiered in 1942, in the middle of the war and just two weeks after the city of Casablanca itself had surrendered to General Patton’s troops, even the most optimistic of Tinseltown dreamers could hardly have predicted that it would go on to become perhaps the most beloved of all Hollywood movies. And yet this “picture that makes the spine tingle and the heart take a leap,” as the New York Times critic Bosley Crowther called it at the time, would go on not only to win Oscars for best picture, best director, and best adapted screenplay but to enjoy more revival screenings than any other film in the history of cinema. Seventy years after the film’s release, the Academy of Motion Pictures Arts and Sciences selected Casablanca to inaugurate its “Oscar Outdoors” series at its new openair theater in the heart of Hollywood. As Umberto Eco once said, Casablanca is “not one movie; it is ‘movies.’”

         Like so many other fans, I was reminded of the movie’s indelible place in our cultural lexicon in the spring of 2016, when news arrived that cast member Madeleine Lebeau had passed away in a small Spanish town on the Costa del Sol. Not yet twenty when the film was made, the French-born Lebeau turned in a spirited performance as Yvonne, the young woman who gets snubbed by Humphrey Bogart in the film’s first act, only to return defiantly to Rick’s Café—shifting her allegiances with the speed of a Vichy opportunist—on the arm of a Nazi officer. She ultimately reveals her true colors by singing a vigorous rendition of “La Marseillaise” during the pivotal scene in which the café patrons sing the French national anthem with increasing fervor to drown out the competing Nazi chorus of “Die Wacht am Rhein.” Tears stream down her trembling cheeks, shot in luminous close-up, as she cries out, “Vive la France!” and “Vive la démocratie!” Three decades after the film was released, Leonid Kinskey, the Russian-born actor who played Sascha the barman, remarked, “I think it was the most moving patriotic scene ever played in any picture.” Without Yvonne, without her inimitable voice and her tears, the scene is unthinkable.

         In the obituaries published in newspapers and posted on websites across the globe, Lebeau’s age was given as ninety-two, and she was widely presumed to have been the last surviving cast member. A striking shot of her taken from the “Marseillaise” scene accompanied many of the death notices, and, in an official statement delivered soon afterward, French Culture Minister Audrey Azoulay said of Lebeau: “She will forever be the face of the French resistance.”
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               Yvonne (Madeleine Lebeau) singing “La Marseillaise.”

            

         

         That sentiment encapsulates the magic of Casablanca: a scene from a film that was first brought to life in the dream factories of Southern California in the summer of 1942 is still, some seven and a half decades later, considered representative of a real political and historical epoch. During my research for this book, I spoke with dozens of people—filmmakers and family members, film critics and fans—who, like Minister Azoulay, felt that a specific scene or a specific character, or even the film as a whole, had come to mean something much larger with each passing decade.

         We’ll Always Have Casablanca is an attempt to capture the story of not just how this most remarkable movie was made—and of the indispensable role that refugees from Hitler’s Europe had in making it—but to explore how and why Casablanca continues to live on in our collective consciousness, as affecting to our hearts and minds now as it was from the start.

         Like all movies, Casablanca is not without its imperfections. There are undeniably corny lines and a healthy dose of Hollywood “hokum,” in the parlance of the day. But its spectacular achievement, whether it’s the result of the “genius of the system,” as the great French critic André Bazin once termed it, or the good fortune of historical timing, prodigious talent, and a host of factors that often elude classification, remains indisputable. As Paul Whitington observed in the Belfast Telegraph weeks after Lebeau’s death, “Maybe there are better films than Casablanca, but there are probably none better loved.” It flickers, as bravely and beautifully as ever, in the glorious black-and-white shadows of our imagination.

      

   


   
      
         

            Chapter 1

            
EVERYBODY COMES TO RICK’S


         

         Casablanca began its fabled career as a modest, unproduced, three-act stage play, Everybody Comes to Rick’s, written in 1940 by Murray Burnett and Joan Alison. An English teacher at Central Commercial High School in midtown Manhattan, Burnett was at the start of his career as a playwright. He’d only recently finished his undergraduate degree at Cornell University, and reserved his skills as a dramatist mostly for nights and weekends. A few years before, based on his experiences at his day job, he’d finished a draft of a play he called An Apple for the Teacher, which would later be known as Hickory Stick. Cowritten with Fredrick Stephani, it would eventually earn an abbreviated run on Broadway—five days total at the Mansfield Theatre—in May 1944. Sometime in the late 1930s, Burnett met his writing partner Alison at the Atlantic Beach Club, one of the many cabana-lined enclaves that dot the South Shore of Long Island, which they both frequented in summer. They quickly began a happy collaboration that lasted many years.

         Almost a full decade his senior, a divorcée with three small children, the far more cosmopolitan Alison (née Leviton) read Burnett’s work, offered him her wisdom, and shared her network of precious contacts within the New York drama scene. She introduced Burnett to her friend the Broadway producer Delos Chappell, who already had a handful of successful stage credits to his name. Although Chappell was unable to find an immediate home for An Apple for the Teacher on Broadway—that came half a decade later—he gave Burnett the necessary encouragement to keep at it. Newly married to his young wife, Frances, living in a rented apartment, and still making car payments, Burnett held on to his day job, continuing to write on the side, often with Alison’s aid.

         Something had occurred in the summer of 1938 that left a profound impact on Burnett’s life, and ultimately on motion-picture history. At the age of twenty-seven, still relatively innocent, unsophisticated, and nominally Jewish, Burnett journeyed with his wife across the Atlantic during his school break. “I had inherited $10,000 from an uncle,” he later recalled, “and it was one of my romantic dreams to go to Europe on a big ocean liner. My wife’s family lived in Belgium. I had read headlines about Hitler, but they were meaningless until we got to Antwerp and my wife’s family asked us to go to Vienna—the Anschluss had just happened—to help other relatives get money out of Austria.” By that point, Jews in Nazi-occupied Austria, at least those who were fortunate enough to leave, were prevented from bringing money and other assets with them. “I went to the consulate to get a visa,” he recounted further, “and he said, ‘Mr. Burnett, I don’t know why you’re going to Vienna and I don’t want to know, but I want to warn you that if you get into any trouble in Vienna this government cannot help you.’ He gave me a small American flag to wear in my lapel, and he said, ‘You must never go out in the street without wearing this.’” Burnett went to Europe that summer, hoping the journey might serve as a belated honeymoon for him and his wife. He returned with a story he never forgot.

         While in Austria, he experienced firsthand the implementation of the Nuremberg Laws and other virulent forms of institutionalized anti-Semitism that had been enthusiastically adopted by the annexed state in May of that year. It was, as he later recounted, “an indescribable horror, a city of marching feet.” Milling about the capital city, he stumbled upon a massive sign, bigger than anything he’d ever seen before, “and on the billboard was a caricature of a Jew, and it said in huge letters, MURDERER, THIEF. And we’d sit in the relatives’ apartment and hear the marching feet outside.” The intensity of the experience, more extreme than he ever possibly could have imagined, stuck with him. While still in Vienna trying to make sense of the situation, asking lots of questions and hearing plenty of tragic stories, Burnett learned of the so-called refugee trail, the treacherous escape route that Jews and others deemed undesirable by the Third Reich were left to travel after the Nazis came to power. “It led from Marseilles to Morocco,” explains film historian Charles Francisco, “back across the Mediterranean to Lisbon and—with luck—to eventual safety and freedom in the United States.” This is the path outlined on the animated map insert and described in the March of Time–like voice-over narration by Lou Marcelle at the start of Casablanca.

         During the same fateful summer that Burnett visited Austria, high-ranking Nazi official Adolf Eichmann—later made infamous during his 1961 trial in Jerusalem—established Vienna’s Zentralstelle für jüdische Auswanderung (Central Agency for Jewish Emigration), which saw to it that Jewish property and other valuables remained in Austrian (read: Aryan) hands. In complete defiance, Burnett and his wife, Frances, boarded a railroad car bound for the border carrying with them a large cache of illegal goods belonging to Frances’s Viennese relatives. “When we got on the train, I had diamond rings on every finger and my wife was wearing a fur coat in August,” he remembered, describing their scheme to smuggle out the family’s prized possessions. A near brush with a border guard—with Murray running a high fever and a camera hidden beneath a pillow in their train compartment—didn’t keep the Burnetts from doggedly pursuing their goal, eluding party officials, and making their way through the increasingly impenetrable demarcation lines of Nazi-controlled Europe.

         One night, after Murray and his wife arrived in the South of France, having successfully smuggled out the contraband, they visited a smoky nightclub on the outskirts of Nice, on the road to Monte Carlo, perched above the Mediterranean. It catered to a mixed clientele made up of refugees and military officials of all political stripes. The patrons spoke in a babel of foreign tongues, and there was a black pianist, a crooner from Chicago, who was busy working the crowd playing a set of popular jazz standards. Burnett was especially fond of the pianist, whose songs brought him back to his student days at Cornell and whose enchanting voice soothed the audience—“a great contrast to the tragedy and tears,” he recalled—and provided them with hours of welcome distraction. Taking in the scene, Burnett purportedly turned to his wife and said on the spot, “What a setting for a play!” Thus was the idea for Casablanca born.

         Upon returning to New York, with the idea simmering in his mind for the next year or so, Burnett announced to his writing partner, with an uncommon sense of urgency: “No one can remain neutral, God damn it, Joan. No one can remain neutral.” They wrote the play, as Burnett later told a reporter from the Los Angeles Times, in “the white heat of anger—anger at stupid people who refused to acknowledge that Hitler and Nazism were a threat.” Burnett and Alison labored feverishly, for six straight weeks in the summer of 1940, while he was on school break. Putting in long days, they worked out of Alison’s well-appointed, spacious apartment on West Fifty-Fourth Street. Their method of collaboration went something like this: he would plant himself at the typewriter, hunting and pecking, while she paced, smoking one cigarette after the next, dictating dialogue aloud. Some of the pages stayed, others got crumpled into a ball and tossed on the floor. It was a continuation of their habit, developed in months leading up to summer, of writing together in the afternoons. “Joan nourished me,” Burnett commented many years later. “I went to her apartment after school, and she would give me lunch. She was a marvelous cook. She was a beautiful woman. I needed Joan. Don’t for a moment think I didn’t. In a way, I think she was my mother.” (Around this same time, Burnett received extensive therapy for his childhood maternal conflicts from renowned Viennese-born analyst Theodor Reik.) Over the years, a number of critics, film historians, and fans have speculated about a possible romantic relationship between the two writers, even suggesting a marriage that never took place, but theirs was strictly a professional affair, all maternal feelings notwithstanding.

         As they settled into a rhythm, they invented many of the central characters—including the cynical saloon keeper Rick and the elusive black marketeer Ugarte—as well as the general arc of the plot. The play was originally to be set in wartime Lisbon, which, as historian Neill Lochery has recently suggested, bore many real-life affinities with the fictional atmosphere that Burnett and Alison concocted: “broken romances; desperate refugees trying to obtain correct paperwork and selling the family jewels to finance their onward passage; a thriving black market as supply dictated that the prices of diamonds fell to record low levels; cafés and hotel bars full of refugees and spies scattered across the city center and along Lisbon’s coastline resort.” Lisbon proved to be the target destination sought by those left stranded in Vichy-controlled North Africa—it was one of the very last European cities from which refugees could gain transatlantic passage or, if they had especially deep pockets, even catch the Pan Am Clipper. Amid a web of subterfuge and desperate flight, Casablanca, a city that neither Burnett or Alison had visited, became the chosen hub for such dramatic tensions from the refugee trail to play out.

         With each passing week, the two writers continued to spin their story. They hit a stumbling block when it came time to explain how these refugees might gain access to the free world. Of course, any stateless subjects had to have exit visas of some kind, documents that would enable them to leave a Vichy-ruled zone. But how could they come up with a reasonable plot device? The two writers reached a standstill. “One of Joan Alison’s favorite ploys to combat writer’s block,” explains Francisco, “was an exuberant ‘Let’s go shopping.’” On this particular day, the two writers strolled a few blocks up Fifth Avenue from Alison’s apartment to Bergdorf Goodman, where they did a little indulgent browsing among the luxury goods. Alison tried on a few fancy coats, feigning genuine interest in the purchase, while Burnett looked on bemusedly. By the time they left, reentering the din of the city streets—yes, like many literary and cinematic legends, this may merely be the stuff that dreams are made of—they had purportedly hatched the idea for “letters of transit,” those fictional golden tickets that ensure safe departure, almost like Dorothy’s ruby slippers in The Wizard of Oz, which had been released a year earlier.

         The draft Burnett and Alison completed in the summer of 1940 contains much of the raw material, not to mention the well-chiseled characters and inspired plot points, that would be transported to the big screen some two years later. Of course, the love story is there, folded into the tale of stranded refugees, and the righteous cause that must ultimately triumph above all else. Perhaps more remarkable still, Burnett and Alison managed to capture the very mood and atmosphere of a city that neither of them had seen before.

         From the opening lines of exposition, the scene is indelible. “The bar of RICK’S CAFÉ, Casablanca, French Morocco, 1941,” it begins:

         
            About eleven o’clock of a summer’s evening. This is the bar of an expensive and chic night club which definitely possesses an impalpable air of sophistication and intrigue. There is a hectic excitement about the people and the entertainers that manifests itself in speech and manner. […] Along L. wall Centre is a door leading to the gambling and dance rooms, from which, at intervals, bursts of music and voices can be heard. These increase in volume whenever the door is opened. At L. front, is a table at which a man in tuxedo with white summer jacket is seated. Further front is another table marked “RESERVED.” Along R. wall, set into it, are three tables and a number of seats. At extreme R. corner, is a small piano on wheels, salmon colored, ornate, and eye-filling. There is a NEGRO on a stool before it. The walls are decorated with rare tropical birds, flamingoes, etc. and huge palm fronds. The place is full of people, at bar and tables, in evening dress and uniforms. People entering head for the bar, some seek admittance to the gaming rooms, but only after they have been silently approved by the MAN sitting at the table nearest the L. door. He is RICK, an American of indeterminate age. There is a drink before him, untouched. The NEGRO, in bright blue slacks and sport shirt, open at the throat, touches the keys of the piano softly, playing STARDUST, taking liberties with it. There is a hum of voices, chatter, laughter.

         

         The evocative atmosphere described on the first page of Act I of Burnett and Alison’s ninety-seven-page, three-act script is immediately recognizable to anybody who has seen the film that Warner Bros. would later release. There’s Rick, his café, even his white dinner jacket; Sam, the “Negro” musician (also called The Rabbit in the play, for his infectious rendition of the popular jazz standard “Run, Rabbit, Run”), with his trusty upright piano on wheels; the lively mixed crowd; and the vaguely exotic décor (Warners would later repurpose sets evocative of the North African streets originally designed for The Desert Song, released a year after Casablanca).

         Soon the action begins, with the arrival of the obsequious Ugarte (“Bowing slightly,” as the stage directions read), asking to have a drink with Rick, who responds with words familiar to Casablanca initiates: “You know my rule.” Of course, Rick never drinks with customers (it will take a jovial, pear-shaped waiter named Carl, absent from the stage play, to remind us). Next arrives a rather pushy fellow named Forrester-Smith, eager to make his way to the roulette table. He’s not from the Deutsche Bank, as the film will have it, but a fop from the upper rungs of English society (“a stout, red-faced gentleman, very British, in tweeds”). “Now look here!” he tells Rick. “I’ve been in every gambling room between Honolulu and Calcutta, and if you think that I’m going to be kept out of a bloody dive like this without going to the authorities, you’re very much mistaken, sir.” And Rick, in control, snarls his retort: “Your money’s good at the bar,” adding what will likewise be repurposed as his comeback line, “You’re lucky the bar’s still open to you.”

         Throughout these initial pages of the first act, not only are there large swaths of dialogue that will be kept entirely intact in the subsequent screenplay and into the movie, but also quite a few important set pieces and character depictions. For example, there is the exchange between Ugarte and Rick about the thief’s most recent haul: “Letters of transit signed by Marshall Weygand. They cannot be rescinded or questioned.” Later, when Ugarte expresses a few pangs of guilt, Rick gets in a line that might have made theatergoing audiences of the 1940s squeamish, and surely would have made the Hays Office, responsible for enforcing censorship in the name of the Production Code, shudder. “You remind me of a pimp who’s had a windfall,” he says. “When he quits, he’s so sorry for the girls.” Burnett and Alison introduce the chummy friendship between Rick and the morally dubious, skirt-chasing prefect of police Luis Rinaldo (later Louis Renault), who in the play has a fully articulated fetish for innocent young girls: “There is something that attracts me about these unawakened girls, something that challenges….” Rinaldo’s rallying cry, “Pour le sport, Ricky, pour le sport,” leads him to trade his own crooked iterations of the law for various services rendered by his underage victims. Finally, Rinaldo and Rick, who learns from his friend of the arrival via the refugee trail of Czech underground leader Victor Laszlo, place their bets on his prospects of flight.

         The stage play, as Burnett and Alison first sketched it, holds certain information that will later be deemed either extraneous or detrimental to the plot that is ultimately told. For instance, when Rick dismisses the obedient Rinaldo as a “Gestapo spank” (a term retained in the film), the prefect of police produces a file kept on the mysterious American barman: “Richard Blaine, American. Age (here I shall be discreet) formerly a prominent and successful attorney in Paris. Married to the daughter of Alexander Kirby. Two children. Left Paris in 1937 because…. We will pass over that. Your wife obtained her divorce in Reno, in 1939 and has custody of the children.” Some of the other trimming and modification concerns the ancillary characters introduced by Burnett and Alison. Although Rick’s abandoned plaything Yvonne makes an appearance in their rendition, she’s much more forward than on screen (“Rick has no soul,” she asserts, “but he’s nice to sleep with”). Likewise, Rick’s long lost paramour, Lois Meredith, an American with a sordid past, arrives on the arm of Laszlo radiating an attitude more suggestive of Mae West (“It isn’t the first time,” she boasts to Rinaldo when he commends her for having Rick break his rules and join them for a drink, “you must read my memoirs”), or perhaps a naughty American cousin of Ilsa Lund, than of the restrained European she will become in the film. For his part, Laszlo is presented as a man with access to bank accounts containing millions of dollars raised by the resistance, held in Prague and other cities across Europe, which the Gestapo is intent on seizing; it’s money rather than names of other key members of the resistance that the Nazis demand.

         Yet despite the many later, largely self-serving assertions to the contrary, much of the wartime political rhetoric attributed to individual characters as well as the essential shades of French Moroccan ambience are drawn from the play. We learn, for instance, of Rick’s overriding neutrality. “This is a place of entertainment,” he declares after breaking up an argument. “When you come here you leave your political opinions behind.” Still later, when introduced to Captain Strasser—who will earn a promotion, to major, for the movie—Rinaldo describes his friend approvingly: “Rick is unlike any American you have ever met, Captain. He is completely neutral.” The owner of the Blue Parrot nightclub, Rick’s down-market competitor, makes an appearance in the first act, bearing the name Señor Martinez (later Signor Ferrari), and as in the film, he puts in an offer on Rick’s Café and on Sam, both of which are rebuffed by Rick.

         In the hands of Burnett and Alison, Sam the piano player harbors the same boundless loyalty as he does two years later on screen. He covers for Rick, trying to prevent his friend’s ensnarement with Lois. His original lines of dialogue remain unchanged in the screenplay: “Boss, we’ll take the car and drive all night. We’ll get drunk. We’ll go fishin’ and stay away until she’s gone.” Likewise, in the stage play Lois hums the opening bars and even sings a few lines of its most famous stanza before Sam agrees to play their forbidden torch song “As Time Goes By.” It was an all-time favorite from his college days, and Burnett played the 1931 recording by beloved crooner Rudy Vallee over and over at Cornell, driving his fraternity brothers mad and wearing out the recording in the process. Finally, in Burnett and Alison’s rendition, we learn of Rick’s pained memory of his Parisian tryst with Lois at La Belle Aurore and of Lois’s penchant for wearing blue.
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               Playwright Joan Alison soon after selling Everybody Comes to Rick’s to Warner Bros.

            

         

         While writing the play, certain characters were molded around composites of people that Burnett and Alison either knew personally or had read about. Burnett often claimed that Rick was a mix of an ideal version of “himself and a college roommate.” Here Alison took a different view: “I always scream when he identifies with Rick, because he was a country boy, unsophisticated. Both of my husbands were wide-shouldered and fine athletes, and Rick was my concept of a guy that I would like. Clark Gable.” The name Laszlo, Burnett often recounted, derived from Laszlo Bellak, a 1930s Jewish-Hungarian table tennis champion, a gold medalist in Paris and Berlin, and émigré to America. As for the female lead, the inspiration may well have come from across Burnett’s desk. “Murray’s concept of sophisticated was me,” insisted Alison. “Lois was based on me.” An extant photo of Alison, taken at a restaurant in New York the day that she and Burnett sold their play to Warner Bros., two days after Christmas 1941, shows her wearing an elegant gown and a floral brooch and boasting the well-coiffed hair—popularly known then as “victory rolls,” owing to their V shape—of a Hollywood movie star.

         Over the course of the play’s remaining two acts, additional core story elements get taken up—many of them retained, in some form or another, in the final film. We witness the rekindling of amorous feelings between Rick and Lois, who returns alone to see her former lover; hear her guilt-ridden pronouncement of Laszlo’s heroic virtues (“He’s one of the few men willing to lift up his voice and tell the world to fight for what he believes in”); and are exposed to Rinaldo’s persuasive skills in convincing Rick that he’s merely being played for a sap. Rick and Laszlo square off, lobbing a few acid lines at each other. And perhaps most important, near the close of the second act, when a group of German officers begins to sing an amped-up rendition of the beloved Nazi anthem “Das Horst Wessel Lied” (later changed, when rights couldn’t be secured for the film, to “Die Wacht am Rhein”) Laszlo exhorts Sam to play the “Marseillaise” (“Rick nods to the Rabbit almost imperceptibly,” as the stage directions have it, “and the RABBIT begins to play”). We then encounter the young, naïve Bulgarian newlyweds Jan and Annina—here given the family name Viereck (“square” in German), perhaps an in-joke for Burnett and Alison—and catch wind of their emotional conversation, replayed verbatim in the screenplay, in which Annina seeks Rick’s advice as to how she should handle Rinaldo’s proposition to exchange visas for sex.

         The final act allows Rick to reveal the true allegiances hidden beneath that otherwise impenetrable carapace of his. He helps the Bulgarian couple secure safe passage (“a kind of peace offering to love,” as he calls it), using one of the prized letters of transit to secure them a spot on the plane to Lisbon with Victor and Lois. He has them say a prayer for Ugarte, who is thought to have committed suicide in Nazi custody. And after duping Rinaldo, holding him at bay while the others flee, Rick gives his dramatic farewell in a scene that holds more than a mere germ of one of Hollywood’s most famous finales:

         
            Rick: (Sharply) You’re going, Lois.

            Lois: No, no, no! You fool, I’m in love with you again. It’s true that I came here for an exit visa, when I saw you my knees went weak. I’m …

            Rick: You’re going, Lois. There nothing here for you. You told me … I’m finished … all burned out … Victor’s still fighting, and he needs you, Lois.

            Lois: (Frantically) I don’t care. I’m …

            Rick: Get out of here, Victor, for God’s sake …

            Victor: (Pulling her towards the door) Rick, are you sure it’s worth it?

            Rick: (Forcefully) I’m sure … you’ve got a job to do.

            Victor: (Sweeping LOIS with him towards the door) Thank you, Rick, and no matter what you think … you’re still fighting.

         

         Rick allows himself to be arrested by an irate Strasser, explaining his motives in his last line, the very last in the play, to an inquiring Rinaldo: “For the folding money, Luis, for the folding money. You owe me five thousand francs.” The stage directions indicate that Rick walks off with Strasser as the curtain closes.

         
            *

         

         WHEN THEY FINISHED a draft of the play, Burnett and Alison found a talented New York agent named Anne Watkins who took an immediate interest in the property and soon had it optioned for an undisclosed sum by Broadway producers Martin Gabel and Carly Wharton. Unsure of its potential on Broadway, the producers, operating out of an office on West Forty-Second Street, approached playwrights Ben Hecht and Robert Sherwood, both of whom purportedly voiced their approval after giving it a read. “The play doesn’t really need a major rewrite,” they reported back to the producers. Things looked up, at least for the moment.

         A more serious issue arose when Wharton questioned the putatively immoral—and, for many theatergoers of the 1940s, objectionable—portrayal of Lois. It’s clear enough in the play that Lois has sex with Rick when she returns alone to try to get the letters of transit. Wharton demurred, as she later explained it, “as strongly as anyone with an open mind could object” to it. There were, additionally, some lingering concerns about the ending, in which Rick gets whisked away by the Nazis (this was, rather presciently, the kind of thing that would pose a red flag for the Office of War Information a couple of years later). Reluctant to make substantive changes to their precious script—a young playwright named Louis Weitzenkorn is said to have taken a quick pass at it—even if that might give it better chances on Broadway, Burnett and Alison instead urged their agent to give Hollywood a whirl.

         While they were still shopping the play out west—it bounced around different studios for well over a year—the two writers worked on a few other original pieces, hoping that they might either land a spot on Broadway or, perhaps, reach the hands of an eager studio professional in Hollywood. One of these was a play that shared a bit of thematic overlap with Rick’s and took the form of an anti-Nazi spy thriller. Given the working title One in a Million, it focused on the threat of Nazi infiltration in the German-American Bund, a topic that Warner Bros. had taken up in its 1939 production of Confessions of a Nazi Spy. They showed their play to émigré director and actor Otto Preminger—later brought in to Warners’ Burbank studios and tested for the role of Major Heinrich Strasser—who optioned it, but he eventually passed when it became clear that the duo’s real focus remained fixed on Rick’s.

         For Burnett and Alison, that particular script was first priority; it was a story that had to be told. “It was a cautionary tale,” observed David Margolick of the New York Times in 1985, “a warning that, as fascism marched forward, good men and women everywhere had to take a stand.” Warner Bros. already had a reputation for supporting the cause, having made a few stridently anti-fascist pictures in recent years. Producer Hal B. Wallis, the big man on the lot who was in the process of negotiating with studio head Jack Warner to supervise a number of signature productions of his own, was particularly receptive to such ideas. “Five days after Pearl Harbor, I found a script [Rick’s] on my desk that was destined to become my toughest assignment, the most famous picture I ever made, and a legend that has lasted until this day,” notes Wallis in his breezy memoir Starmaker, written with Charles Higham. He goes on to call the property “an obscure play” that was “written by two unknowns” and that, in his somewhat questionable telling, “had been turned down by every studio in town” (at least one producer at M-G-M is said to have put in a lowball bid of $5,000 but couldn’t get support from the higher-ups at his studio, and Paramount allegedly made an offer on it as well). Wallis readily admits that the initial story by Burnett and Alison contained many of the key components of the movie, if merely in the rough. “The script needed a great deal of work,” he adds, “but I liked it. The story of a laconic American solving the problems of Europeans would have definite appeal in those troubled times.”

         On December 22, 1941, a studio memorandum from Wallis’s office was sent to story editor Irene Lee (née Levine), head of the Warners story department and the studio’s first champion of the play: “Mr. Wallis would like you to please get him a price on the story Everybody Comes to Rick’s and get reactions on it from three or four people.” The first reaction came, a day later, from associate producer and contract writer Jerry Wald: “What dialogue I read in the synopsis was very good, and I think we should be able to get a good picture out of it.” That same day, veteran screenwriter Robert Lord wrote to Lee, “I suspect that with enough time and effort a picture could be got from this very obvious imitation of Grand Hotel.” Just a few days later, on behalf of the studio, Wallis acquired the rights to Burnett and Alison’s play for $20,000—the most money ever paid, at that time, by a Hollywood studio for an unproduced play and more than twice the purchase price of Warners’ acquisition of Dashiell Hammett’s The Maltese Falcon the previous year—for what would become Warner Bros.’ Production No. 410 on its slate of films for 1942. It’s hard to know the real reason for the unprecedented sum. Wallis had been impressed with the box-office performance of the Casbah-rocking romance Algiers (1938), an American adaptation of Pépé le Moko starring European heartthrobs Charles Boyer and Hedy Lamarr. He also liked its vaguely exotic, simple but catchy one-word title. On New Year’s Eve 1941, he sent around a memo to all departments at the studio announcing, “The story that we recently purchased entitled Everybody Comes to Rick’s will hereafter be known as Casablanca.”

         
            *

         

         ALTHOUGH HE’D ALREADY made the purchase, Wallis wasn’t yet done surveying the different opinions of writers on the lot, carefully weighing his options before assigning it to a single individual or team. An official slogan at Warners, a string of words found printed at the bottom of all studio memoranda, was “Verbal messages cause misunderstanding and delays (please put them in writing),” and the paper trail for its productions was appropriately vast. Screenwriter Aeneas Mac-Kenzie dispatched a memo to Wallis’s secretary Paul Nathan on January 3 offering his unvarnished views. “I think we can get a good picture out of this play,” wrote MacKenzie. “But it isn’t a pushover; because certain characterizations—such as Rinaldo—need very definite strengthening and certain basic situations present problems from the censorship angle. The pre-action relationship between Rick and Lois, for example, is one which does not seem permissible in film.” Not everyone shared the optimism that MacKenzie and others articulated in the first round of readings. Fellow writer Wally Kline wrote to Wallis a couple of days later, expressing his concerns about the “highly censorable situations” in the play and about retaining the ending. “It will be a tough job to get a satisfactory picture out of this material,” he wrote, “but I believe it can be done.” The following day, Robert Buckner, a seasoned producer and screenwriter at Warners, then hard at work on The Desert Song (1943), offered an unambiguous dissenting view. “I do not like the play at all, Hal,” Bruckner’s note began. “I don’t believe the story or the characters. Its main situations and the basic relations of the principals are completely censorable and messy, its big moment is sheer hokum melodrama […] and this guy Rick is two-parts Hemingway, one-part Scott Fitzgerald, and a dash of café Christ.” True as some of his assertions may seem today, Buckner proved to be in the minority among the preliminary readers.

         In fact, by early February, Wallis was in the thick of negotiations with the Epstein twins, Julius and Philip, who had already earned numerous accolades at the studio, with films like Four Wives (1939), No Time for Comedy (1940), Strawberry Blonde (1941), and The Man Who Came to Dinner (1942), and who were eager to work on the script. “We thought the play would make a wonderful movie,” recalled Julius nearly half a century later. “It had a lot of juice to it.” After a stint as an office boy and New York press agent, Julius had begun writing at Warners in 1934, then in his midtwenties. His brother Philip joined him a few years later. Their specialty was “champagne comedy,” often buoyed by snappy dialogue with a healthy dose of wit (Gift of Gab was, fittingly enough, one of Philip’s early stories). They had long since proved their talents when it came to adapting stage plays, and they were also known around the studio for their ability to get otherwise sagging screenplays up onto their feet, adding “a little zip to the script,” as director Raoul Walsh once put it.
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               The writers Julius (left) and Philip (right) Epstein in their office at Warner Bros.

            

         

         Born in 1909 on Manhattan’s Lower East Side, “the Boys” or “Julie and Phil,” as they came to be known in Hollywood, were raised in a small apartment on East Broadway above a doctor’s office. Having arrived among the early waves of minimally educated Jewish immigrants from Eastern Europe, their mother worked as a housekeeper and their father maintained a livery stable. Already an avid movie-and theatergoer as a child, Julius served as editor in chief of his school newspaper at Erasmus Hall High School, in the Flatbush section of Brooklyn, where he and Philip were both varsity boxers; Julius initially harbored aspirations of becoming a sportswriter. The twins went on to attend Penn State University, where both boxed in the intercollegiate bantamweight division and where Julius served as team captain during their senior year, in 1929. While at Penn State, Julius, who become a political science major, enrolled in a playwriting course, eventually churning out more than half a dozen original scripts by the early 1930s. (“They were just hack work,” he later recalled.)

         In 1933, Julius was summoned to the West Coast to ghostwrite a script sold to Warners by a college classmate of his and their mutual friend Jerry Wald (the same Wald who would later read Everybody Comes to Rick’s soon after its arrival at the studio). His friends were in a pickle, as they had sold the script on spec and couldn’t figure out how to finish it themselves. Julius got a crash course in screenwriting by watching a production on the lot at Paramount—College Humor, costarring Bing Crosby and Mary Carlisle—just days after arriving in Los Angeles, and he promptly banged out the script to seal the deal for his friends. As a result of these events, and the crooked arrangement with Wald, he is thought to have served as inspiration for the fictional character of Julian Blumberg, the nebbishy playwright whose work gets plagiarized by the ruthless antihero Sammy Glick, modeled in part on Wald, in Budd Schulberg’s acclaimed 1941 Hollywood novel What Makes Sammy Run? Unlike Blumberg, however, Epstein managed to hit the ground running. Within a year of his arrival, he landed the first of two consecutive seven-year contracts at Warners, and his dear brother Philip—who was known for finishing Julius’s sentences and vice versa—followed closely behind.

         Inveterate pranksters, the Epsteins enjoyed a well-deserved reputation in Burbank for having something of an antiauthoritarian streak, holding forth for hours on end at the writers’ table in the studio commissary. The frequent butt of their jokes was studio boss Jack Warner, a man who, as Jack Benny once quipped, “would rather tell a bad joke than make a good movie.” The twins once swiped Warner’s stationery and dashed off a note to a handsome, young actor named Don Taylor, an old friend of theirs from Penn State, in which they slyly ridiculed Warner’s known tendency to ask Jewish actors (famously John Garfield, né Jacob Julius Garfinkle) to change their names. “All of us at Warner Bros. are looking forward to your great career as an actor,” they wrote in the voice of Jack Warner, “and to a long and fruitful relationship with you under your new name of Hyman Rabinowitz.”

         According to Leslie Epstein’s personal account of his father and uncle, in “Duel in the Sun,” Philip and Julius were active, loyal members of the Screen Writers Guild. When a number of writers picketed on the lot, sometime in the 1940s, several members of the union were allegedly targeted and roughed up by “goons” hired by Warner. Julius is said to have suggested, never missing a beat, that the studio motto be changed from “Combining Good Picture-Making with Good Citizenship” to “Providing Good Picture Making with Good Marksmanship.” Years later, during the anti-Communist witch hunts of the McCarthy era, Warner allegedly handed over the names of the Epstein twins—and several others, all of whom had been in contract disputes with him—to the House Un-American Activities Committee (“Those boys are always on the side of the underdog,” he accused). When asked, in a questionnaire they were sent by HUAC, whether they had ever belonged to a subversive organization, they both answered in the affirmative. The name of said organization? Warner Brothers.

         Among the things that drove Jack Warner especially crazy was the twins’ habit of arriving at the studio in the afternoon. One day, when no longer able to put up with it, he confronted them. “Read your contract,” he barked, “It says you have to be on the lot by nine in the morning. What makes you two different from everybody else? Butchers have to be at the butcher shop at nine. Clerks have to be behind their desks then, too. Even presidents of banks have to show up at nine.” In response, the twins sent Warner the unfinished pages they were then working on with a note attached to them: “Why don’t you tell a bank president to finish the script.” That plucky attitude—in particular, the immense joy taken in ridiculing figures of power—found its way, in tone and sensibility, into the screenplay they ultimately hatched from Everybody Comes to Rick’s.

         By the time they were assigned to the project, in February 1942, the Epsteins were relatively experienced working in both a credited and uncredited capacity at the studio. The twins had collaborated with producer Hal Wallis on Strawberry Blonde and with director Michael Curtiz, soon to be tapped for Casablanca, his sixty-first feature for the studio, on Four Wives. Julius and writer Lenore Coffee, who would later be among the many at the commissary writers’ table asked to sprinkle pixie dust on the inchoate Casablanca script, had been nominated for best screenplay for Four Daughters (1938). Still, they understood the inner workings of a system whose supposed genius didn’t often reward the writers. “Everybody at the studio was a script doctor—‘Who isn’t doing anything at the moment? Here, see what you can do with these scripts,’” Julius told film historian Patrick McGilligan in a 1983 interview. For Epstein, during the 1940s, it didn’t much matter whether you received credit for a picture, since you were on contract and the studio knew the extent of your contribution; they were the ones who paid your salary, which didn’t depend on the final tally of fixes made or adaptations written in a given year. “There were seventy to seventy-five writers at Warners—it wasn’t called the motion picture industry for nothing,” he recalled half a century after the production. “It was like an assembly line.”

         What the Epsteins were particularly good at was dialogue, often of the cheeky variety, and many of the final Casablanca screenplay’s finest and most mordant lines can be traced back to them. The fast-paced, testosterone-laden banter between Rick and Renault bears their signature (“How extravagant you are, throwing away women like that,” remarks Renault when Rick brushes off the advances made by Yvonne in the first reel. “Someday they may be scarce.”), as do the pair’s intermittent bouts of verbal sparring (“I just paid out twenty. I’d like to get it back,” Rick tells Renault when making their bet on Laszlo’s chances of escape. “Make it ten,” responds Renault. “I am only a poor corrupt official”). Carl, the waiter with the tongue of a borscht belt entertainer (or, in the case of character actor S. Z. Sakall, picked to play him, a Hungarian cabaret artist), was born at their shared desk, as was much of the acerbic dialogue written for that other great source of mischief and deception, Signor Ferrari: “As the leader of all illegal activities in Casablanca, I am an influential and respected man.”

         As for the screenplay’s occasional moments of sexual innuendo—more refined and suggestive than in the stage play—they seem to have the Epsteins’ fingerprints on them, too: for instance, when Annina tells Rick that both she and husband arrived at his café escorted by Renault, he replies, with an implied wink and a nudge, “Captain Renault is getting broad minded.” And then there’s the inspired final scene of the screenplay in which an utterance by Renault, after Rick unloads his gun into Strasser’s chest (i.e., “Major Strasser has been shot”), may well be “the single best use of the passive voice in movie history,” as New Yorker critic David Denby remarked. After a pause and barely a heartbeat, Renault follows it with that other most famous line of dialogue, whose murky origins lie in a car carrying the Epstein twins somewhere along that curvy patch of Sunset Boulevard. As Philip’s son Leslie tells it, stopped at a red light at the corner of Beverly Glen, still wracking their brains for the perfect formulation, they both turned to each other and, in unison, cried out: “Round up the usual suspects!”

         When faced with the near impossible task of doling out the precise share of credit for “that celebrated piece of patchwork picturemaking,” as McGilligan aptly calls Casablanca, the Epsteins undoubtedly deserve a healthy chunk. They took the first crack at the script—after the initial round of evaluations and treatments had been written up by MacKenzie and Kline—and then worked on it in earnest after returning from a four-week stint in Washington, D.C., where they were collaborating with Frank Capra on the Why We Fight series in March. A draft of the script from April 2, 1942, kept in the Warner Bros. archives in Los Angeles only has their two names listed on it.

         While they were away, however, Wallis put the script into a number of different hands, including those of Howard Koch, a relatively new contract writer at Warners, who was occupied with several other projects when Casablanca arrived on the scene. Born in New York City in 1901, Koch had studied law at Columbia University before becoming a writer. He got his start at Orson Welles’s Mercury Theatre, collaborating with John Houseman on a series of radio plays, including the sensational 1938 Halloween episode of War of the Worlds announcing an attack by Martians. Koch landed at Warner Bros. sometime in the late 1930s, and worked with Wallis soon after on the Bette Davis vehicle The Letter (1940). He also served as one of the screenwriters, together with John Huston, on the highly successful war drama Sergeant York (1941), a film that allowed Koch to become more explicitly invested in what he saw as the noble fight against tyranny. It was a political reflex that he would rely on again in Casablanca. A man of the left, yet without party affiliation, Koch would soon write Mission to Moscow (1943) for Warners, a sympathetic portrayal of Russia directed by Curtiz. He would later be subpoenaed by the House Un-American Activities Committee and ultimately forced into exile in England, spending many years on the industry’s blacklist.

         When he received drafts of the Epsteins’ script from Wallis, Koch did not often share the twins’ approach. “They apparently see the situations more in terms of their comic possibilities,” he wrote in a memo to Wallis of May 11, 1942, “while my effort has been to legitimize the characters and develop a serious melodrama of present-day significance, using humor merely as a relief from dramatic tension. I am not presuming to decide which is the better way to attack the picture, but certainly they are different from the ground up.” Koch was keen on giving Rick, in particular, more political depth; his gunrunning habit in Ethiopia and his anti-fascist combat in Spain came from Koch (as did, presumably, his presence on the Gestapo’s blacklist in Paris). Koch was responsible for Rick’s key line of dialogue—providing a vital flicker of humanity—in response to Ferrari’s bid on Sam, “I don’t buy or sell human beings.” In a direct volley, the Epsteins gave Ferrari his rather dark, humorous reply: “It’s too bad. That’s Casablanca’s leading commodity.”

         In that “powderkeg of political tension,” as Warners story analyst Stephen Karnot first described the atmosphere evoked in Burnett and Alison’s rendition of Rick’s, Koch was often intent on emphasizing the ideological underpinnings; he had hoped, for instance, to insert a rather heavy-handed scene in which Laszlo coaxes Renault into toasting with him to liberté, égalité, and fraternité. “Within the confines of a studio that both Koch and Julie Epstein describe as ‘a family,’ ” observes Aljean Harmetz, “Koch rewrote the Epsteins to give the movie more weight and significance, and the Epsteins then rewrote Koch to erase his most ponderous symbols and to lighten his earnestness.”

         A bit later in the production, when Wallis sensed trouble with the love scenes, he brought in yet another writer, Casey Robinson, with whom he had just worked on the blustery Bette Davis romance Now, Voyager. It’s unclear whether Wallis had already been showing Robinson, one of the studio’s most valued and best-paid writers, drafts of the script along the way. Whatever may have preceded his official involvement, on May 20, 1942, Robinson submitted his “Notes on Screenplay ‘Casablanca’ ” to Wallis’s office. As he wrote at the outset, “my impression about Casablanca is that the melodrama is well done, the humor excellent, but the love story deficient. Therefore my comments are almost all concerned with the latter.” He offered a number of ideas on how to beef up this particular aspect, and the document makes clear that Robinson had even written test scenes, centering on the romance.

         Among the various suggestions that Robinson made was to replace the slightly overexperienced American Lois, from Burnett and Alison’s play, with a European woman of greater virtue and nobility. “Something very specific gave me this idea,” he told Joel Greenberg in a 1974 interview. “I was falling in love with a Russian ballerina named Tamara Toumanova; writers sometimes have such personal reasons.” (True to form, when the Epsteins first caught wind of this change while they were still in Washington working on Why We Fight, they dashed off a caustic note to Wallis on hotel stationery: “While we handle the foreign situation here, you try to get a foreign girl for the part. An American girl with big tits will do. Love and kisses, Julie and Phil.”) Robinson’s final contribution may be measured more in terms of what he added to the dramatic mood than to the dialogue. Julius Epstein insisted in his interview with McGilligan that Robinson’s only lasting contribution to the script was the line “A franc for your thoughts” in the Parisian flashback, “which I always thought was a terrible line.”

         Not all of the film’s famous snippets of dialogue came from the screenwriters alone. There are indeed those that, over the years, have been attributed to others involved in the production. For instance, a number of Bogart biographers, film historians, and critics have claimed that the actor prevailed upon director Curtiz, adding his two cents to the shooting script in the case of both “Here’s looking at you, kid” and “Of all the gin joints in all the towns in the world, she walks into mine!” In retrospect, given the high number of tweaks to the dialogue, this seems entirely plausible. “We were making changes in the script every day during shooting,” Julius Epstein told Stephen Bogart in his Bogart: In Search of My Father (1995). “We were handing in dialogue hours, even minutes, before it was to be shot.” As for the film’s last line of dialogue (“Louis, I think this is the beginning of a beautiful friendship”)—delivered by Bogart in what was ostensibly the very last round of retakes—it originated, we are given to believe, with the producer himself. Wallis claims in his memoir to have chosen it over an anemic alternate line (“Louis, I might have known you’d mix your patriotism with a little larceny”), and at least Robinson corroborates Wallis’s claim. Regardless of its origins, it remains one of the film’s most memorable utterances. Or, as David Thomson puts it, “Today, that shameless get-off line speaks to the lasting bonds of affection between golden-age Hollywood and ourselves—the tarnished coinage of movies.”

         For many years, after the celebrated screenplay earned an Oscar for the Epsteins and Koch and brought considerable fame to all involved, moments of intermittent quibbling about the full extent of each individual contribution took place. In 1973, Koch published a revisionist account in New York magazine—reprinted that same year as the preface to the published screenplay—in which he famously took far more than his fair share of credit. He began the piece by discrediting wholesale the work of Burnett and Alison: “The play provided an exotic locale and a character named Rick who ran a café but little in the way of a story adaptable to the screen.” Not since James Agee who, in his barbed contemporary review of the film in The Nation, lambasted Everybody Comes to Rick’s (presumably without ever having read it) as “one of the world’s worst plays,” had anyone taken such a pot shot. Koch went on in the same piece to describe how he started the artistic process from scratch—just him and “a dozen brown pencils, Eagle Number One,” at his desk at Warners—from the first “Fade In” to the film’s finale. “When I sent down to the set the last scene and wrote The End on the screenplay,” he writes somewhat imaginatively, “I felt like a weary traveler who had arrived at a destination but with only the foggiest notion where he was or how he got there.” Burnett and Alison filed a $6.5 million libel lawsuit against Koch and his publisher for taking sole credit on their story. “Koch has an awfully bad memory,” remarked Alison, who insisted further, “there is enough glory in Casablanca for both the original authors and screen adaptors.”
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               The writer Howard Koch accepting the Academy Award for Best Adapted Screenplay of 1943.

            

         

          Five years later Koch published his memoirs, the shamelessly titled As Times Goes By, and changed his tune ever so slightly. “When it was all over and the words Fade Out, The End had been typed on the much-revised and multi-authored script,” he writes there, “I had only the foggiest notion of what sort of film would emerge from the composite of our efforts.” (In that same version, Koch refers to Rick’s as “an unproduced play by Murray Burnett and Jean [sic] Alison.”) Even if Julius Epstein would later poke fun at the award-winning screenplay, calling it “slick shit,” he wasn’t especially thrilled about being written out of the script’s creation. As Epstein commented, after the initial piece by Koch was published, “I’ve always liked Howard. I think his memory is just wrong, and he is thinking the wishful thought.” Robinson, for his part, asserts: “I do know that the boys wrote the police stuff and the comedy, and they wrote it very well. And the breaking into and closing down of the club [‘I am shocked, shocked to find that there is gambling going on in here!’]—they wrote that. So what it came to was I wrote the love story.” Robinson also claims, rather disingenuously, to have been the first to read the play for Wallis (“It was set in Casablanca, Africa, and there the relationship with the picture almost ends.”). A decade and a half after he stoked the fire with his essay in New York magazine, Koch took a more philosophical position on the film’s creation: “I’ve got almost a mystical feeling about Casablanca. That it made itself somehow. That it needed to be made and that we were all conveyers on the belt, taking it there.”

         The closest we may get to a definite answer as to who wrote the bulk of the screenplay can only come from reading the hard evidence left behind from the production, and it tells a different story. For instance, on the finished draft, dated June 1, 1942, the Epsteins’ names are listed first and in the largest type, and below them in a slightly smaller font is Howard Koch (even Koch himself notes this in his revised comments). Similarly, on the production budget prepared a day later and reprinted in Rudy Behlmer’s Inside Warner Bros., the Epstein brothers receive the highest salaries among writers on the film ($15,200 apiece, for their twelve weeks on the assignment, compared with Koch’s $4,200 for approximately seven weeks); the budget also accounts for fees paid to writers Wally Kline ($1,983), Aeneas MacKenzie ($2,150), and Lenore Coffee ($750), with an additional $6,350 listed for “Script Changes,” possibly used to supplement the additional payment to Robinson, who is said to have earned a total of $9,000 for three weeks on the film.

         
            *

         

         THIS SAME BATTLE against anonymity and lack of proper acclaim followed playwright Murray Burnett for the rest of his life. After the success of the film, he and Alison found their way to Hollywood and were both hired as writers at Paramount at a salary of $1,000 per week. Despite the lucrative paycheck, neither of them found a proper fit at the studio, where among other things they were assigned a Bob Hope comedy. “Remember we were not screenwriters,” Alison recounted in 1990. “They wanted us to go through all their old scripts that they wanted redone. I’m not a plagiarizer. I couldn’t work on anybody else’s idea.” That, however, is how much of Hollywood works, as Burnett found out more than once. In June 1962, in the case of Burnett v. Lambino, he charged Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer with plagiarizing Hickory Stick (what was originally An Apple for the Teacher) in the 1955 film The Blackboard Jungle. He lost in court.

         A decade and a half later, when Burnett and Allison filed a libel suit against Bogart biographer Nathaniel Benchley (they argued that his claim that their play “died before it ever reached Broadway” was libelous), Variety ran its piece on the trial under the snide title “Lose it Again, Sam.” And lose they did. Burnett later sued Warners to have the rights of his characters returned to him and lost that as well. “These characters are part of me, and I have great regard for them—even Ugarte,” Burnett told journalist David Margolick in 1985. “I want them back.” The contract that he and Alison had signed, perhaps naïvely, over forty-three years earlier, however, stipulated that they “give, grant, bargain, sell, assign, transfer and set over” to Warner Bros. the complete rights “to every kind and character whatsoever, whether or not now known, recognized or contemplated, for all purposes.” In other words, they didn’t stand a chance. “Plaintiffs may play it again,” wrote Justice John A. K. Bradley of New York State Supreme Court in his ruling on the $60 million suit filed in 1983, “but they must do it in United States District Court.”

         “We called it ‘the curse of Casablanca,’ ” Burnett’s widow Adrienne, a Hungarian-born actress who met Murray when she played in the Broadway production of Hickory Stick, told me from her home in Honolulu. “When a movie is a great success, everybody wants to take credit for it.” It was also part of the “curse,” as she continued, that Murray Burnett, for much of his adult life, was left “trying to get credit for something that everyone else was taking credit for.” Even late in life, when Burnett was finally given his proper due, the curse followed him. “You know the story about the man who was tried for stealing a chicken and acquitted,” he is quoted as having said in his obituary of September 1997. “For the rest of his life, people say, ‘That’s the guy who stole the chicken.’”

         Throughout his long career, Burnett continued to work on other projects, yet many of them led him back to Rick. In the early 1950s, he wrote a radio series called Café Istanbul (later renamed Time for Love), starring Marlene Dietrich as Mademoiselle Madou, in which, either consciously or subconsciously, he crafted a number of spin-off scenarios from the play that he and Alison had written. In November 1952, The New Yorker ran a story about Dietrich and her radio performance: “Miss Dietrich read on until she came to ‘All that evening the smoke had swirled and eddied about the Café Istanbul in nervous circles, as if looking for escape.’ ‘This eddied is English?’ she inquired. ‘Sure it’s English,’ said [director] Burnett. ‘Take it out,’ said Miss Dietrich. ‘If I don’t know it, they won’t know it in Idaho.’” As Adrienne Burnett says of Dietrich’s part in Istanbul, “I think to a great extent, she was a female version of Rick.” Up until his death in 1997, Burnett held on to blueprints for a sequel to Everybody Comes to Rick’s, a fifteen-page typescript he kept in his desk drawer, in which Rick runs a bar in Estoril, Portugal, on the outskirts of Lisbon, with Renault still in tow.

         In April 1991, the original version of Everybody Comes to Rick’s, under the more commercially viable name Rick’s Bar Casablanca, was finally staged at London’s Whitehall Theatre; it starred British actor Leslie Grantham, best known for playing a villain in the popular BBC television series East Enders, as Rick. Its run lasted less than a month. “I’m very proud of the play,” said Burnett defiantly from London, after winning back the rights in his final $100,000 settlement with Warners. “Listen, there would have been no movie Casablanca if this play had never been written.” After reading a piece in the Los Angeles Times discussing the London premiere of Burnett and Alison’s play, which featured a few barbed comments from Burnett regarding the lack of proper credit, Howard Koch finally came around to see things in a different light. In a letter to the editor, he wrote the following:

         
            In “You Must Remember This” (May 14), Murray Burnett, co-author with Joan Alison of the play Everybody Comes to Rick’s, complains that he did not receive sufficient credit for its contribution to the film Casablanca, and he may be right. When Warners assigned me the story, I had not read the play. We were facing a deadline, the camera was on our heels, so the material I was working on was limited to what I inherited from Julius and Philip Epstein, which I assumed contained what was useful from the original play. Having read the play more recently, I believe the complaint was, at least to some extent, justified. After 50 years, memories can be faulty and mine was in this case. If I have undervalued Everybody Comes to Rick’s, I am sorry and hope that the play will have a big success in London and its audience will realize that its contribution to Casablanca was substantial.

         

         Reviews of Rick’s Bar Casablanca, however, were not quite as generous in their evaluation of the play. Writing in the Evening  Standard, Milton Shulman called it “an exercise in cinema cultdom relying on collector mania rather than anything else.” The review in the Sunday Times found cause to praise Grantham’s West End debut but criticized the improbability of some of the choices made in the production: “Would a Bulgarian Jew on the run wear his yarmulke in a city swarming with SS soldiers?” Many critics found the marquee tagline “You must remember this” prompted unflattering comparisons to the film. An unnamed reviewer sent to London by Variety voiced similar concerns about the disadvantage of the play due to the film’s unforgettable dialogue and performances, but found some virtue in the original political thrust of the work by Burnett and Alison: “What does come across a bit more in the play is its clarion commitment to freedom and human dignity. The authors clearly were out to rally public sentiment against the then-spreading Nazi scourge.” Still, the overwhelming tenor of criticism was unmistakably negative. Charles Osborne from the Daily Telegraph was perhaps the least charitable of the lot: “Rick’s Bar Casablanca should have been left to rest on its laurels in Mr. Burnett’s bottom drawer, and I advise anyone feeling nostalgic about Casablanca simply to rent the movie from their nearest video library.”

         
            *

         

         IN THE YEARS since the film’s release, the highly acclaimed screenplay—ranked number 1, in 2001, by the Writers Guild of America in its 101 Greatest Screenplays—has attained a mythical, if not a mystical status in the eyes of many. Regardless of any lingering authorship questions, it remains one of the most frequently taught scripts to aspiring writers and actors, first championed by the American screenwriter guru Syd Field, who died in 2013 and whose 1979 best-selling handbook Screenplay: The Foundations of Screenwriting was long considered the screenwriters’ bible. Mapping out his three-act structure, and the “plot points” that make them cohere, Field devotes significant attention to Casablanca at several junctures in his book, even beginning a chapter on “The Scene” with a paean to that storied screenplay:

         
            Casablanca is an extraordinary film experience, one of those rare and magical moments that reside deep within our collective film consciousness. What makes it such a great film? What makes it stand out so vividly in the fabric of our film experience? Many things, of course, but in my own personal opinion, Rick is a character who, through his words and actions, sacrifices his life for the higher good. In The Hero with a Thousand Faces, Joseph Campbell says the hero has to “die in order to be reborn.” […] In their screenplay, Julius and Philip Epstein and Howard Koch have fashioned a character who is tough and fearless and possessed of a strong moral center and a proverbial heart of gold.

         

         Years later, the competing screenwriting guru Robert McKee famously included a multihour annotated reading of the Casablanca screenplay in his weekend seminars, which he has given in cities across the globe since the 1980s. “We know characters better than we know our friends,” he wrote in his 1997 guide Story: Substance, Structure, Style and the Principles of Screenwriting, “because a character is eternal and unchanging, while people shift—just when we think we understand them we don’t. In fact, I know Rick Blaine in Casablanca better than I know myself. Rick is always Rick. I’m a bit iffy.”

         Over the years, countless actors, writers, and directors have been inspired by the work of Field (James Cameron, Judd Apatow, Tina Fey) and of McKee (Ed Burns, John Cleese, Brooke Shields, Joel Schumacher). The latter continues to offer his workshops with staggering frequency and even earned a small tribute, played by actor Brian Cox, in Spike Jonze’s 2002 film Adaptation. In his 2003 New Yorker profile “The Real McKee,” Ian Parker observes, “He screened Casablanca over six hours, and afterward (his shoes kicked aside) he reached an extraordinary crescendo of metaphysical, motivational talk (being and becoming, Schopenhauer and Derrida) that discovered in ‘As Time Goes By’ the richness of a Hamlet monologue.”

         Despite the seemingly sacred place that the Casablanca screenplay has reached in Hollywood lore, a wicked hoax (“The Great Script Tease”) was nonetheless perpetrated in 1982, when the journalist and aspiring screenwriter Chuck Ross sent around a freshly typed copy of the complete text under the less identifiable title Everybody Comes to Rick’s. With minimal changes (Sam became “Dooley”) and authorial attribution given to the phantom scribe “Erik Demos,” Ross submitted it to 217 entertainment agencies. The results are as revealing as they are surprising: 90 refused to read an unsolicited manuscript; 7 never responded (18 additional copies ostensibly were presumed lost by the U.S. Postal Service); 8 noticed a certain similarity to Casablanca; 33 recognized it outright (the rest, apart from a handful who expressed tentative interest, are unaccounted for). Among the various comments given as feedback: “I strongly recommend you leaf through a book called Screenplay by Syd Field, especially the section pertaining to dialogue”; “Too much dialogue, not enough exposition, the story line is weak, and in general didn’t hold my interest”; “I think the dialogue could have been sharper and I think the plot had a tendency to ramble.” For Ross, the exercise demonstrated not just the inability of contemporary talent agents to recognize talent—let alone a world-famous screenplay—but also the insurmountable odds stacked against unknown writers.

         When Howard Koch learned of the hoax, several years later, he published an opinion piece in the New York Times in which he expressed a profound sadness: “One of the most popular films of all time was either rejected or not recognized.” The movie industry of the mid-1980s, in Koch’s estimation, was no longer what it had once been. “The common denominator is money,” he remarked ruefully, “and the product is no longer leavened with love.” Among the letters sent to the Times in response to Koch’s piece was one written by a former story editor at Kings Road Productions, Renee Cho, who had read and rejected the phony screenplay. “The reason I rejected it was not because I didn’t like it or recognize it,” she wrote, “it was because the story has been done to perfection, and there’s no need to do it again.”
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